ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

AUG 26 2014

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Spartanburg County

S.C. Supreme Court

R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

RONNIE GOGGINS,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-002756  
\_\_\_\_\_

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
\_\_\_\_\_

BENJAMIN JOHN TRIPP  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

## **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Whether the record supports the PCR court's finding that Counsel effectively raised defenses to the jury where the State's only evidence that Petitioner was involved in a robbery in the streets at five o'clock in the morning was the victim's identification of him; where Petitioner maintained to Counsel that the victim was involved in a drug deal with another man and he was merely a bystander; where the victim gave changing statements to police about the details of the robbery and gave testimony about the case directly conflicting with the sworn testimony of an investigating police officer; and where Counsel did not argue any of these points to the jury but only proposed that the victim genuinely mistook Petitioner because he appeared in the two photo lineups that police gave him.

## STATEMENT

Albert Geter claimed that on Saturday, August 2, 2008, he was up at 5:00 a.m. innocently walking the streets when two men robbed him by putting a handgun to his head and taking his cash. He was walking to “help a cousin clean a park, a city park that was in need of some repairs, some work” when he came upon a stranger who extended a hand and introduced himself as “Little Bull.” Geter testified he “bent down” to shake the man’s hand; when he stood back up, he felt a gun on the back of his head. App. 104, line 7—App. 105, line 22; App. 97, line 20—App. 98, line 21. Geter repeatedly testified the man with the gun then said, “[W]here [is] the money.” App. 108, line 20—App. 109, line 17.

The State’s only evidence implicating Petitioner was Geter’s identification of Petitioner as the man whom he first encountered. App. 67, lines 17-25. He claimed after the other man asked where the money was, Petitioner searched his pockets “until he did find the money that I had”—\$250 in cash that Geter claimed he intended to take somewhere to pay his rent. App. 109, line 19—App. 111, line 20; App. 267.

Petitioner maintained all along that Geter was involved in a drug transaction with the other individual. Geter was unhappy with the quality or quantity of the drugs, which provoked the individual to rob him. Petitioner was present but otherwise had no involvement. App. 188, lines 12-22.

On February 23, 2009, the Spartanburg County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner on one count of armed robbery. App. 280-281. On October 14, 2009, he proceeded to trial before The Honorable Roger L. Couch and a jury. Robert Hall represented Petitioner and Matt Kendall represented the State. App. 11.

In a pretrial *Neil v. Biggers*<sup>1</sup> hearing, evidence was presented that police showed Geter two six-pack lineups. Geter could not identify anyone during the first lineup, which occurred at the police station within an hour of the robbery. App. 30, line 21—App. 31, line 5; App. 43, lines 5-25.

Geter testified about how the lineup at the police station proceeded:

Q: When you saw it that day, when Officer Hrycaj showed you that lineup, were you able to positively pick him up?

A: I wasn't—well I, I pointed to the guy who I thought it was, and she—the officer told me that that wasn't the person that, that robbed him. So—

Q: Okay.

A: —I was thinking okay, this guy can't be in this lineup because that's the only one that's here that looks like the guy that just robbed me.

Q: Okay. Well, did you make a positive ID at that time or did you—tell me when you said you thought it was him or you were sure it was him.

A: . . . [W]hen I looked at the lineup I pointed to this picture right here and she said well, it, that's not him, so—.

\* \* \*

Q: Do you recall what you did say, say to the officer?

A: I said, well, it must be somebody that look like him cause this guy right here is the one I remember that just robbed me.

App. 45, line 18—App. 46, line 20. On cross-examination, Geter testified he was absolutely certain he put his finger on the picture to indicate to Officer Hrycaj. App. 50, line 21—App. 51, line 7.

The State then called Officer Susan Hrycaj with the Spartanburg Public Safety Department to testify. App. 57, lines 15-21. During her examination, she averred six times over—three on

---

<sup>1</sup> 409 U.S. 188 (1972).

direct and three on cross—that Geter did not indicate to her a picture in any manner or with any degree of possibility; she was “very certain” of it. App. 61, lines 1-19; App. 62, line 24—App. 64, line 10. Six days later, Geter identified Petitioner to Officer Russell Porter. App. 67, lines 17-25. The court ruled to allow the identification evidence. App. 82, lines 11-16.

During trial, Geter admitted on cross-examination that his current allegation that Petitioner searched his pockets and took the money differed from an earlier account. On the day of the robbery, he gave to Officer Hrycaj a written statement that the man with the gun searched his pockets and took his money.<sup>2</sup> Geter explained, “after the events of that happening to you, everything was jumbled in my mind, I was disoriented, and I was scared, and I was terrified.” App. 118, line 17—App. 119, line 17; App. 268.

After Geter, the State called Officer Porter to testify about the photo lineup identification. App. 132, line 14—App. 137, line 21. On cross-examination, Counsel for Petitioner elicited Officer’s Porter’s acknowledgement that Geter could not pick Petitioner out during a previous lineup

Q: Had somebody else done a lineup?

A: According to the incident report, the responding patrol officer also presented him a lineup.

Q: Okay. And does your file indicate whether or not Mr. Goggins was in that first lineup?

...

A: Yes.

...

---

<sup>2</sup> The first statement consisted of twelve hand-written lines of narrative. Geter signed below the statement and below a self-proving affidavit providing, “I have read this statement consisting of [one] page(s), and I swear or affirm that the facts contained therein are true and correct.” App. 268.

Q: And was Mr. Geter able to pick [Petitioner] out of that first lineup according to your file?

A: No.

App. 139, line 16—Ap. 140, line 7.

After Officer Porter testified, the State rested without calling Officer Hrycaj. App. 142, line 25—App. 143, line 1. Counsel for Petitioner then rested the defense case without presenting evidence. App. 150, lines 13-19. In closing argument, the solicitor for the State stressed to the jury the credit-worthiness of Geter, saying, “You heard Albert say from the stand several time 100 percent sure, without a doubt, the man in front of me is the defendant, . . . Ronnie Goggins” and “Albert Geter is a hundred percent sure. No doubt in his mind that the man robbed him. . . . He’s a hundred percent sure it’s that man. He robbed him.” App. 153, lines 18-20: App. 156, lines 6-9.

Likewise, Counsel for Petitioner focused on Geter’s credibility, noting how “another officer showed him a lineup that Investigator Porter said he saw, and it had [Petitioner] on it.” App. 158, lines 13-15. A little later he revisited the point: “On the day of this robbery, the day he says he was robbed, he could not pick [Petitioner] out. Six days later he picked him out of a lineup that they put in evidence. They didn’t give a, give you the first one.” App. 160, lines 9-12. He argued that the most sensible explanation for the inconsistency was that Geter convinced himself Petitioner was the robber because only his picture appeared in both lineups:

But Investigator Porter said yeah, there were five people and [Petitioner] in the first, and the only repeat in the second lineup was Mr. Goggins.

He’s seen him twice now in a lineup. Of course he picked him out. I agree with [the solicitor]. You have to use your common sense.

App. 160, lines 12-18.

The State wants you to believe that when he looked at that first lineup, for some reason he couldn't identify him, but six days later he could, and today he say yea, that's him. Well, the only thing consistent in those two lineups was [Petitioner]. . . .

Unfortunately, we don't have that lineup for you to look at, at this point in evidence. But I think it's clear that it did exist, and I don't doubt Mr. Geter now has convinced himself that that's the man who did it.

App. 162, lines 2-14.

He couldn't pick him out on the 2<sup>nd</sup>. He even looked at a picture of him for five other people [sic], and then he looked at the picture of him six days later with five different people. No repeats except [Petitioner]. Of course he picked him out. And as time went by, he convinced himself more and more that's the man.

App. 163, lines 7-12.

During deliberation, the jury asked the court to "reread the statements given by the victim in the initial report . . . on August 2<sup>nd</sup> and the statement . . . when the officer went to the victim's home for the visit." Because the statements were not in evidence, the court replayed the cross-examination of Officer Porter. App. 182, line 24—App. 183, line 16. The jury found Petitioner guilty, and the trial judge handed down a fifteen-year sentence. App. 185, lines 16-21; App. 192, lines 2-4. On March 15, 2012, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 205-212. The State filed a return on February 20, 2013. App. 213-216.

On June 27, 2013, Petitioner appeared at an evidentiary hearing before The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh. Kenneth P. Shabel represented Petitioner and Suzanne H. White represented the State. App. 217. Petitioner testified about the inconsistencies in the statements Geter gave police fourteen months apart. He also described the police testimony at his trial regarding the photo lineups. App. 225, line 5—App. 236, line 22; App. 267-268.

Counsel testified that from his first meeting with Petitioner, he strongly suspected Petitioner knew who the robber and was aware of drug activity between him and Geter, but he did not want to identify the man. App. 243, lines 4-21. Counsel testified that his concern in the case was the admissibility of the photo identification under *Neil v. Biggers*. He specifically told Petitioner that “there’s a good chance the [trial] judge is gonna let it in and we have to depend on the appellate courts to . . . right that wrong.” App. 244, line 18—App. 245, line 9. Counsel testified that he did not call Officer Hrycaj to testify about the first lineup because he decided that a better strategy was to present no evidence and have the final argument. App. 251, line 6—App. 252, line 12.

On November 26, 2013, the PCR court issued its order of dismissal. App. 273-279. The court found Petitioner did not establish “that Counsel failed to . . . effectively bring out particular issues to the jury” because Petitioner did not “offer any testimony or evidence as to anything that Counsel could have . . . used to assist at trial had more investigation been completed.” App. 276-277.

### ARGUMENT

**The record does not support the PCR court’s finding that Counsel effectively raised defenses to the jury because Counsel unreasonably neglected multiple strategies to discredit Geter and create a reasonable doubt that were apparent in the record.**

The record does not support the PCR court’s finding that Counsel effectively raised defenses to the jury because Counsel unreasonably neglected multiple strategies to discredit Geter and create a reasonable doubt that were apparent in the record. The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees a defendant the right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. Const. amend. VI; *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). The United States Supreme Court has created a two-pronged test to establish ineffective assistance of counsel by which a PCR

applicant must show (1) counsel's performance was deficient, and (2) the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. *Id.* at 687.

“The validity of counsel’s strategy is reviewed under ‘an objective standard of reasonableness.’” *Lounds v. State*, 380 S.C. 454, 463, 670 S.E.2d 646, 650 (2008) (quoting *Ingle v. State*, 348 S.C. 467, 470, 560 S.E.2d 401, 402 (2002)). “[A]n attorney must at a minimum, ‘conduct appropriate investigations, both factual and legal, to determine if matters of defense can be developed, and to allow himself enough time for reflection and preparation for trial.’” *Sneed v. Smith*, 670 F.2d 1348, 1353 (4th Cir. 1982) (quoting *Coles v. Peyton*, 389 F.2d 224, 226 (4th Cir. 1968)). Counsel must be found deficient when “the trial transcript and . . . PCR testimony inescapably point to the conclusion that [counsel] simply had not adequately prepared the defense case.” *Lounds* at 462, 670 S.E.2d at 650.

“The second prong of the *Strickland* test requires a showing that the deficient performance prejudiced the defendant to the extent that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Cherry v. State*, 300 S.C. 115, 118, 386 S.E.2d 624, 625 (1989). “A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial.” *Simmons v. State*, 331 S.C. 333, 338, 503 S.E.2d 164, 166 (1998).

In this case, the State’s only evidence implicating Petitioner was Geter’s testimony. Naturally, Counsel’s primary strategy in front of the jury was to discredit Geter. In particular, he focused solely on the possibility that Geter was mistaken in identifying Petitioner based on the inclusion of his picture in both lineups. Thus, in closing, he reiterated how Officer Porter testified about the first lineup with Petitioner’s photo, and he pointed out how the State did not introduce

evidence surrounding it. He repeatedly told the jury that Geter obviously indicated Petitioner because he had genuinely convinced himself that Petitioner was involved.

First, Counsel never argued that Geter was untrustworthy because he was lying about being involved in a drug deal gone bad. Neglecting this argument was highly suspect considering the evidence and circumstances supporting it. From his first meeting with Petitioner, Counsel suspected Geter was indeed present at a drug deal and that all three men were acquainted with each other. Petitioner admitted he was present but said he had no other involvement. Further, Geter's story was shady. He was up at 5:00 a.m. walking the streets to provide generic help to an unidentified relative. Though alone during dark hours, he shook the hand of a stranger who randomly accosted him. The robber specifically asked for "the" money, and Geter happened to be carrying \$250 in cash.

Second, Counsel did not expose to the jury how Geter had just given sworn testimony that directly contravened the sworn testimony of a police officer. In the suppression hearing, Geter three times stated he pointed to a photo in the first lineup, and he twice stated that Officer Hrycaj said, "that's not him." Geter said he was "absolutely certain" that he indicated Petitioner. However, Officer Hrycaj then averred six times over that Geter never indicated to her in any manner or with any degree of possibility, and she was "very certain" of it.

Third, Counsel did not offer into evidence Geter's inconsistent written statements to police. At trial, Geter testified that Petitioner went into his pockets. On cross-examination, Counsel elicited from Geter that on the day of the robbery, he told Officer Hrycaj that the man with the gun searched his pockets and took his money. Neither party offered the written statements into evidence.

Counsel's failure to pursue these three strategies in establishing reasonable doubt of Geter's account was objectively unreasonable. In addition to Counsel's contention—that Geter was

genuinely mistaken—a reasonable and simple view of the evidence and argument presented permitted other, equally apparent inferences: Geter was rattled immediately after the robbery and was not prepared to make an identification at that moment; the photo of Petitioner was unclear or Petitioner otherwise appeared atypical; or one or more photos looked very similar. Alternatively, the theory that Geter was involved in a drug deal in which he was wronged and lost money was more sensible. It explained Geter’s doubtful account of his actions that morning as well as his ostensibly misleading accounts to police. It also provided strong impeachment value as grounds for bias. Additionally, arguing the theory would have allowed Counsel to forcefully confront Geter in front of the jury with a transcript of his ostensible lying under oath about indicating a picture in the first lineup and with his signed and self-confirmed statement making a conflicting representation to police about the robbery.

At the PCR hearing, Counsel testified that he did not call Officer Hrycaj to testify about the first lineup because he decided with Petitioner a better strategy was to present no evidence and have the final argument. The record contains no explanation or evidence of an evaluation on his part of whether the two other strategies were worth pursuing. Thus he could not have intelligently weighed the risk of pursuing them in making reasonable decision of whether to present evidence. Moreover, considering that Counsel’s singular strategy did not dispel alternate explanations for Geter’s inconsistencies that were consistent with Petitioner’s guilt, neglecting these strategies solely to secure the final argument to the jury was not objectively reasonable.

The unreasonableness of Counsel’s strategy is bolstered by evidence showing he had inadequately investigated these defense possibilities, and he was therefore simply unprepared for trial. Counsel testified that his concern in the case was the admissibility of the photo identification under *Neil v. Biggers*. He specifically told Petitioner that “there’s a good chance the [trial] judge is