STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

FEB 20 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-002756

Ronnie Goggins, Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

SUZANNE H. WHITE
Assistant Deputy Attorney General
SC Bar #78225

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

QUESTION PRESENTED

Did Petitioner fail to meet his burden of proof of establishing that Counsel was ineffective in his representation of Petitioner at trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Petitioner is incarcerated with the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to the Spartanburg County Clerk of Court's orders of commitment. The Spartanburg County Grand Jury indicted the Petitioner at the February 2009 term of General Sessions for armed robbery (09-GS-46-1068). Robert B. Hall, Esquire, represented the Petitioner. On October 28, 2009, the Petitioner was convicted of this charge by a jury. The Honorable Roger L. Couch sentenced the Petitioner to confinement for fifteen years.

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on Petitioner's behalf and an appeal was perfected. An Anders brief was filed on Petitioner's behalf. The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction and sentence. State v. Goggins, Op. No. 2012-UP-092 (filed February 22, 2010). The Remittitur was returned on March 12, 2012.

This matter comes before the Court by way of an Application for Post-Conviction Relief filed March 15, 2012. The Respondent made its Return on or about February 21, 2013. An evidentiary hearing into the matter was convened on June 27, 2013, at the Spartanburg County Courthouse. The Petitioner was present at the hearing and was represented by Kenneth P. Shabel, Esquire. Suzanne H. White, Esquire, of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office, represented the Respondent.

At the hearing, the Petitioner testified on his own behalf. Robert B. Hall, Esquire, testified on behalf of the State. Following the hearing, the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh denied the PCR application by written Order dated November 25, 2013.

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on Petitioner's behalf and a Petition for Writ of Certiorari was submitted. This Return to the Petition for Writ of Certiorari follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard of review of a post-conviction relief evidentiary hearing is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

ARGUMENT

I. Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof of establishing that Counsel was ineffective in his representation of Petitioner at trial.

On October 28 and 29, 2009, Petitioner proceeded to trial on a charge of armed robbery. (App. p. 6). After deliberating for approximately an hour, the jury found Petitioner guilty of the charge. (App. p. 182, lines 17-18; p. 184, lines 22-23; p. 185). Petitioner was sentenced to fifteen years of prison. (App. p. 192). In his PCR application and at the PCR hearing, Petitioner alleged Counsel was ineffective for failing to effectively present the defense to the jury.

Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the Petitioner must prove that “Counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064, 80 L.Ed.2d 674, 692 (1984); Butler, 334 S.E.2d 813.

The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that Counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable

professional judgment. Strickland, 80 L.Ed.2d 674. The Petitioner must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

A two-pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of Counsel. First, the Petitioner must prove that Counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its "reasonableness under professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625, (citing Strickland). Second, Counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the Petitioner such that "there is a reasonable probability that, but for Counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. Id.

Petitioner testified that he was convicted and sentenced to a fifteen year sentence for armed robbery in October 2009. (App. p. 221-2). Petitioner stated that he believed Counsel had adequate knowledge of what Petitioner's position on the case was. (App. p. 224). Petitioner testified that the victim in the case made two statements, approximately fourteen months apart. (App. p. 225). Petitioner testified that the victim did not identify Petitioner as one of the perpetrators of the robbery in his first statement. (App. p. 225, lines 11-14). However, Petitioner testified that the victim then indicated in his second statement that Petitioner took his money and then claimed Petitioner approached victim's house approximately one month following the robbery. (App. p. 226-7). Petitioner testified that Counsel failed to effectively cross-examine the victim as to his failure to identify Petitioner in his first statement. (App. p. 229, lines 2-12). However, Petitioner did acknowledge that Counsel questioned the victim about his different stories regarding the robbery more than fourteen months apart. (App. p. 240).

Counsel testified that he felt that he was able to cross-examine the victim and point out the discrepancies in his statements. (App. p. 248). Counsel acknowledged that he questioned the victim about his different statements regarding which perpetrator held the gun on him and which took the money. (App. p. 249-250). Counsel also stated that he was able to have the jury hear that the victim did not identify Petitioner in the first line-up. (App. p. 252, lines 5-12). Counsel testified that he prepared an outline for his closing statement and reviewed it with Petitioner, at which time he said Petitioner thought everything had been covered and Petitioner indicated that after closing arguments as well. (App. p. 248).

During trial, Counsel questioned the victim about the fact that he originally claimed the man with the gun stole his money, but then was testifying that the short man identified as “Little Bull,” was the one who took the money. (App. p. 119; p. 123). Counsel also cross-examined Investigator Porter about the fact that the victim had failed to pick out Petitioner in the first line-up shown to victim, but then picked Petitioner out in the second line-up. (App. p. 140, lines 5-7). Counsel also pointed out that the Petitioner was the only repeat picture in the two line-ups. (App. p. 140, lines 10-12). During closing arguments, Counsel focused on the inconsistencies in victim’s story, including the failure of the victim to identify the Petitioner as the perpetrator of the robbery in the first line up, as well as the victim’s inconsistent statements regarding seeing the gun, but yet only looking forward. (App. p. 158-9). Counsel pointed out the fact that the victim claimed Petitioner appeared at victim’s home one month following the robbery, but yet the victim did not call the police. (App. p. 159). Counsel further noted the illogical nature of the victim’s statement that the Petitioner introduced himself to victim by his known nickname, “Little Bull,” before committing the robbery. (App. p. 160).

The PCR court correctly found that Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proof of establishing that Counsel was ineffective in his representation at trial for failing to effectively bring out particular issues to the jury. (App. p. 276). The court found Counsel's testimony to be most credible and found that the Petitioner failed to offer any evidence or testimony to support a claim that Counsel deviated from the standard expected from an attorney. (App. p. 277-8). “[Counsel] is not required to be infallible, nor to do the impossible, since the defendant is entitled to a fair trial and not a perfect one or a perfect result.” State v. Lewis, 255 S.C. 466, 471, 179 S.E.2d 616, 618 (1971).

Petitioner failed to establish that Counsel failed to fully explore or present defenses that would have resulted in a different outcome at trial. Therefore, the PCR court had probative evidence to deny the application and relief.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari and affirm the PCR Court's ruling. Should this Court grant Certiorari, the Respondent requests permission under the rules to brief the issues discussed above fully.